IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FIELDEN HANSON ISAACS MIYADA ROBISON YEH, LTD.,

Appellants,

v.

DEVIN CHERN TANG, M.D., SUN ANESTHESIA SOLUTIONS, a Nevada Corporation, DOE Defendants I-X

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 78358

Electronically Filed District Court MoeA138208954493 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown APPELLANTS OPDIND Preme Court BRIEF

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Timothy Williams, Department XVI, District Judge District Court Case No. A-18-783054-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

(a) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3) because this appeal relates to a district court order denying an injunction.

(b) The district court entered its order denying Fielden Hanson's Motion for Preliminary Injunction on February 5, 2019 and notice of entry of said order was filed on February 8, 2019. Fielden Hanson timely appealed the order denying preliminary injunction on March 11, 2019.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively assigned to the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) because it originated in business court. This matter also should be retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) because it involves a question of first impression involving statutory interpretation and NRAP 17(a)(12) because it involves a question of statewide public importance as a principal issue.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the district court erred by denying Fielden Hanson's request for a preliminary injunction based on its conclusions that:

(a) the subject non-competition provision in the employment agreement "fails to designate facilities or a geographic boundary where Dr. Tang is prohibited from working and/or soliciting business with any specificity;"

(b) the district court "does not have authority to 'blue pencil' the Non-Competition Clause of the Employment Agreement because the amendment to NRS Chapter 613, more particularly NRS 613.195(5), does not apply retroactively to agreements entered into prior to the enactment of the amendment, which agreements are governed by *Golden Rd. Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam*, 132 Nev. 476, 376 P.3d 151 (2016);" and/or

(c) the parties' contractual agreement to permit bluelining of the subject noncompetition provision is unenforceable.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a former Fielden Hanson employee's decision to breach the non-competition terms of his employment agreement and utilize the goodwill and relationships he developed through his employment with Fielden Hanson to begin competing with Fielden Hanson in the same medical facilities where its anesthesiologists practice.

In December 2016, Dr. Tang executed a Partner-Track Physician Employment Agreement ("Employment Agreement") as a condition of his continued employment with Fielden Hanson. *See* APP000029. The Employment Agreement included a non-competition provision prohibiting Dr. Tang from performing anesthesia or pain management services at any facility that he worked at while employed by Fielden Hanson for a period of two years after the end of his employment with Fielden Hanson (the "Non-Competition Clause"). APP000033 at ¶ 2.8.1.

2

Less than two years later, in the summer of 2018, Dr. Tang terminated his employment with Fielden Hanson and soon thereafter began violating the Non-Competition Clause by performing anesthesia and pain management services at several facilities he worked at during his tenure with Fielden Hanson. APP000310. As a result of Dr. Tang's conduct, Fielden Hanson filed its Complaint on October 18, 2018 and requested a preliminary injunction barring Dr. Tang from continuing to violate the Non-Competition Clause. *See* APP000014; APP000029. Dr. Tang filed an answer and opposition to the motion for preliminary injunction alleging that the Non-Competition Clause was void because the geographic restrictions were vague and unreasonable. *See* APP000093; APP000167.

After a hearing on Fielden Hanson's Motion for Preliminary Injunction, the district court entered its Order Denying Preliminary Injunction. APP000308. In its Order, the district court incorrectly concluded that the Employment Agreement: (1) "fails to designate facilities or a geographic boundary where Dr. Tang is prohibited from working and/or soliciting business with any specificity" and (2) "lacks any geographic limitation or qualifying language distinguishing the particular Facilities or customers to which it applies." APP000310-APP000311.

The district court then compounded its error by concluding that it "does not have authority to 'blue pencil' the Non-Competition Clause because the amendment to NRS Chapter 613, more particularly NRS 613.195(5), does not apply retroactively to agreements entered into prior to the enactment of the amendment, which agreements are governed by *Golden Rd. Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam*, 132 Nev. 476, 376 P.3d 151 (2016)." *Id.* Based on this legal conclusion, the district court refused to modify the Non-Competition Clause to reflect a specific geographic restriction it deemed to be reasonable. *Id.* Fielden Hanson appealed this decision and also filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied. *See* APP000314; APP000569, APP000668.

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Employment Agreement

Dr. Tang executed his Employment Agreement with Fielden Hanson in December 2016. *See* APP000029. The Employment Agreement contained the following Non-Competition Clause:

In consideration of the promises contained herein, including without limitation those related to Confidential Information, except as may be otherwise provided in this Agreement, during the Term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years following termination of this Agreement, Physician covenants and agrees that Physician shall not, without the prior consent of the Practice (which consent may be withheld in the Practice's discretion), directly or indirectly, either individually or as a partner, joint venturer, employee, agent, representative, officer, director, member or member of any person or entity, (i) provide Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any of the Facilities at which Physician has provided any Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services (1) in the case of each day during the Term, within the twenty-four month period prior to such day and (2) in the case of the period following the termination of this Agreement, within the twenty-four month period prior to the date of such termination; (ii) call on, solicit or attempt to solicit any Facility

serviced by the Practice within the twenty-four month period prior to the date hereof for the purpose of persuading or attempting to persuade any such Facility to cease doing business with, or materially reduce the volume of, or adversely alter the terms with respect to, the business such Facility does with the Practice or any affiliate thereof or in any way interfere with the relationship between any such Facility and the Practice or any affiliate thereof; or (iii) provide management, administrative or consulting services at any of the Facilities at which Physician has provided any management, administrative or consulting services or any Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services (1) in the case of each day during the Term, within the twenty-four month period prior to such day and (2) in the case of the period following the termination of this Agreement, within the twenty-four month period prior to the date of such termination.

APP000033 at ¶ 2.8.1 (emphasis added).

At the time he entered into the Employment Agreement, Dr. Tang agreed that

the Non-Competition Clause, including the geographic restriction, was reasonable:

It is understood by and between the parties hereto that the covenants set forth in Sections 2.8 and 2.9 of this Agreement are essential elements of this Agreement, and that, but for that agreement of Physician to comply with such covenants, the Practice would not have agreed to enter into this Agreements. The Practice and Physician agree that the foregoing covenants are appropriate and reasonable when considered in light of the nature and extent of the business conducted by the Practice.

APP000035 at ¶ 2.10.

Furthermore, Dr. Tang consented to entry of injunctive relief to enforce the Non-Competition Clause and agreed that if a court ever determined that any portion of the Non-Competition Clause was unreasonable, such court must enforce the remainder of the Non-Competition Clause and revise the offending provision in order to render it enforceable: Physician agrees that if any restriction contained in this Section 2.8 is held by any court to be unenforceable or unreasonable, a lesser restriction shall be severable therefrom and may be enforced in its place and the remaining restrictions contained herein shall be enforced independently of each other. In the event of any breach by Physician of the provisions of the Section 2.8, the Practice would be irreparably harmed by such a breach, and Physician agrees that the Practice shall be entitled to injunctive relief to prevent further breaches of the provisions of this Section 2.8, without need for the posting of a bond.

APP000034 at ¶ 2.8.3.

If any provision or subdivision of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the time or limitations specified in or any other aspect of the restraints imposed under Sections 2.8 and 2.9 is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unreasonable or otherwise unenforceable, any such portion shall nevertheless be enforceable to the extent such court shall deem reasonable, and, in such event, it is the parties' intention, desire and request that the court reform such portion in order to make it enforceable. In the event of such judicial reformation, the parties agree to be bound by Sections 2.8 and 2.9 as reformed in the same manner and to the same extent as if they had agreed to such reformed Sections in the first instance.

Without limiting other possible remedies to the Practice for the breach of the covenants in Sections 2.8 and 2.9, Physician agrees that injunctive or other equitable relief shall be available to enforce the covenants set forth in Sections 2.8 and 2.9, such relief to be without the necessity of posting a bond, case, or otherwise.

APP000035 at ¶ 2.10.

B. Non-Competition Facilities

During his employment with Fielden Hanson, Dr. Tang provided services at the following medical facilities (the "Non-Competition Facilities"): Desert Springs Hospital, Durango Outpatient, Flamingo Surgery Center, Henderson Hospital, Horizon Surgery Center, Institute of Orthopaedic Surgery, Las Vegas Surgicare, Mountain View Hospital, Parkway Surgery Center, Sahara Outpatient Surgery Center, Seven Hills Surgery Center, Southern Hills Hospital, Specialty Surgery Center, Spring Valley Medical Center, St. Rose- De Lima Campus, St. Rose- San Martin Campus, St. Rose- Siena Campus, Summerlin Hospital, Sunrise Hospital, Tenaya Surgical Center, Valley Hospital, and Valley View Surgery Center. *See* APP000003 at ¶ 12.

C. Dr. Tang Violates the Non-Competition Clause

Dr. Tang terminated his employment with Fielden Hanson in June of 2018. APP000310. After ceasing his employment with Fielden Hanson, Dr. Tang continued to work as an anesthesiologist in Clark County and performed anesthesia services at Non-Competition Facilities including Southern Hills Hospital and St. Rose Dominican Hospital – San Martin Campus. APP000005 at ¶ 23; APP000169 at ¶ 23.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court committed multiple reversible errors when it refused to enforce the parties' agreed-upon Non-Competition Clause. First, the district court erred by finding that the Non-Competition Clause failed to provide a reasonable geographic boundary. Contrary to the district court's clearly erroneous finding, the record reveals that the Non-Competition Clause contains a narrowly tailored geographic restriction precluding Dr. Tang from working at the particular facilities he serviced—i.e. the Non-Competition Facilities—on behalf of Fielden Hanson during the specified two-year period.

Second, the district court committed further error when it refused to blueline the Non-Competition Clause and enforce a modified version of the Non-Competition Clause. Both the parties' Employment Agreement and Nevada law, in particular NRS 613.195(5), required the district court to blueline the Non-Competition Clause to render it reasonable and enforce the revised version of the Non-Competition Clause.

These critical errors by the district court resulted in it improperly denying Fielden Hanson's request for a preliminary injunction and mandate reversal of the district court's erroneous order.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews district court decisions denying preliminary injunctions under an abuse of discretion standard. *Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't*, 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004). "A decision that lacks support in the form of substantial evidence is arbitrary or capricious and, therefore, an abuse of discretion." *Finkel v. Cashman Prof'l, Inc.*, 128 Nev. 68, 72-73, 270 P.3d 1259, 1262 (2012). Furthermore, "[a]n abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law." *MB Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing Co.*, 132 Nev. 78, 88, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016).

This Court, however, reviews questions of law de novo, even in the context of an appeal from a preliminary injunction. *Excellence Cmty. Mgmt. v. Gilmore*, 131 Nev. 347, 351, 351 P.3d 720, 722 (2015) (citing *Boulder Oaks Cmty, Ass'n v. B* & J Andrews Enters., LLC, 125 Nev. 397, 403, 215 P.3d 27, 31 (2009)); see also State, Dep't of Bus. & Indus., Fin. Institutions Div. v. Nevada Ass'n Servs., Inc., 128 Nev. 362, 366, 294 P.3d 1223, 1226 (2012). Questions of statutory construction and application are questions of law and therefore are reviewed de novo. See Nevadans for Prop. Rights v. Sec'y of State, 122 Nev. 894, 901, 141 P.3d 1235, 1240 (2006) (holding that when the underlying issues in the motion for preliminary injunction "involve[] questions of statutory construction, including the meaning and scope of a statute, we review . . . those questions de novo.").

B. The Non-Competition Clause is Reasonable

The district court abused its discretion in determining that the Non-Competition Clause is unreasonable. "Nevada law allows for the enforcement of reasonable restrictive covenants in employment agreements, and recognizes that a valid, restrictive covenant may be enforced by way of temporary and permanent injunctive relief." *Accelerated Care Plus Corp. v. Diversicare Mgmt. Servs. Co.*, 2011 WL 3678798, at *3 (D. Nev. Aug. 22, 2011) (citing NRS 613.200). Broad geographic restrictions are reasonable "so long as they are roughly consonant with the scope of the employee's duties." *Id.* (imposing temporary injunctive relief after finding non-compete clause reasonable and enforceable with no geographic scope because it prohibited employees from working in a similar position with a similar or competitive business). Geographic restrictions also are reasonable when they are limited to areas serviced by the employer. *Ellis v. McDaniel*, 95 Nev. 455, 596 P.2d 222, 224 (Nev.1979); *Farmer Bros. Co. v. Albrecht*, 2011 WL 4736858, at *2 (D. Nev. Oct. 6, 2011) (granting preliminary injunction where non-compete prohibited former employee from working "in the geographical area served by [Plaintiff's] Las Vegas, Nevada office.").

These same standards apply to anesthesiologists because the "medical profession is not exempt from a restrictive covenant provided the covenant meets the tests of reasonableness." *Hansen v. Edwards*, 83 Nev. 189, 192, 426 P.2d 792, 793 (1967) (citing *Foltz v. Struxness*, 215 P.2d 133 (Kan.1950) (area of 100 miles for a period of ten years); *Cogley Clinic v. Martini*, 253 Iowa 541, 112 N.W.2d 678 (1962) (25 mile radius for three years); *Lovelace Clinic v. Murphy*, 76 N.M. 645, 471 P.2d 450 (1966) (county limits and three years)). This is because the "substantial risk of losing patients to an employee is itself an adequate basis for a reasonably designed restraint." *Id.*

Here, the Non-Competition Clause contains a reasonable geographic restriction aimed at precluding Dr. Tang from performing anesthesia or pain management services at any medical facility where he provided those same services while employed by Fielden Hanson (the Non-Competition Facilities). This narrowly tailored restriction is directly tied to Dr. Tang's work for Fielden Hanson and seeks to protect Fielden Hanson's goodwill and established business relationships with medical facilities that Dr. Tang became familiar with by working for Fielden Hanson.

Rather than imposing broad territorial restrictions, the Non-Competition Clause only restricts Dr. Tang from performing anesthesia services at the 22 specified Non-Competition Facilities Dr. Tang worked at while employed by Fielden Hansen. As a result, not only can Dr. Tang continue to work in the field of anesthesiology while in compliance with the Non-Competition Clause, he can also do so at numerous other locations within Clark County, Nevada, and elsewhere, including medical facilities adjacent to Non-Competition Facilities.

This fact is critical here because the district court stated it would have determined the Non-Competition Clause was reasonable had its geographic restriction been specifically limited to Clark County. APP000198. Tellingly, the Non-Competition Clause at issue here is far less restrictive than the hypothetical Clark County limitation endorsed by the district court because Dr. Tang can still practice anesthesiology in Clark County at any other facility. Thus, the district court abused its discretion by arbitrarily and capriciously concluding the Non-Competition Clause was unreasonable and unenforceable.

C. NRS 613.195(5) Applies and Governs this Action

Even if this Court does not conclude that the district court abused its discretion in declaring the Non-Competition Clause unreasonable, reversal is still warranted because the district court committed reversible error by failing to apply NRS 613.195(5). This statutory provision provides:

If an employer brings an action to enforce a noncompetition covenant and the court finds the covenant is supported by valuable consideration but contains limitations as to time, geographical area or scope of activity to be restrained that are not reasonable, impose a greater restraint than is necessary for the protection of the employer for whose benefit the restraint is imposed and impose undue hardship on the employee, the court shall revise the covenant to the extent necessary and enforce the covenant as revised. Such revisions must cause the limitations contained in the covenant as to time, geographical area and scope of activity to be restrained to be reasonable and to impose a restraint that is not greater than is necessary for the protection of the employer for whose benefit the restraint is imposed.

NRS 613.195(5) (emphasis added). Accordingly, to the extent that the district court

found that the Non-Competition Clause was unreasonable, it was required to modify

the provision to be reasonable and enforce the provision as modified.

1. The Plain Language of NRS 613.195(5) Requires it Be Applied in Any Action Brought After its Enactment

NRS 613.195(5)'s plain language clearly establishes that it applies in any matter where an employer commences an action after enactment of the statute to enforce a covenant not to compete. Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. of Nevada v. Gitter, 133 Nev. 126, 131, 393 P.3d 673, 679 (2017) ("[W]hen a statute's language is plain and its meaning clear, the courts will apply that plain language."); see also Jennifer L. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. 254, 258, 351 P.3d 694, 696 (2015) (citing Cromer v. Wilson, 126 Nev. 106, 109, 225 P.3d 788, 790 (2010)) ("When a statute is clear and unambiguous, we give effect to the plain and ordinary meaning of the words and do not resort to the rules of construction."). As such, the statute applies here because Fielden Hanson commenced the lawsuit after the effective date of NRS 613.195(5), June 3, 2017. See United States ex rel. Chovanec v. Apria Healthcare Group, Inc., 606 F.3d 361, 365 (7th Cir. 2010) ("One 'brings' an action by commencing suit.").

This conclusion is buttressed by this Court's decision when addressing a similar situation of whether to apply a newly enacted statute retroactively in *Picetti v. State*, 124 Nev. 782, 793–94, 192 P.3d 704, 712 (2008). In *Picetti*, this Court was tasked with determining whether NRS 484.37941 applies to a defendant who committed the complained of act prior to the statute's enactment but sought to use its protections during a case after its enactment. *Id.; see also* NRS 484.37941 (""An

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