| 1<br>2<br>3<br>4<br>5 | Martin A. Little (#7067) Ryan T. O'Malley (#12461) HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS PLLO 3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 100 Las Vegas, NV 89169 Telephone: (702) 257-1483 Facsimile: (702) 567-1568 E-Mail: mal@h2law.com; rto@h2law.co Attorneys for Respondents | Electronically Filed<br>Feb 26 2020 11:54 p.m.  |
|-----------------------|---|---|
| 6                     | IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA  |   |
| 7<br>8                | FIELDEN HANSON ISAACS MIYADA<br>ROBINSON YEH, LTD.  | Case No. 78358  |
| 9                     | Appellant,  | F., 4 First d. L. dirical Director  |
| 10                    | v.  | From the Eighth Judicial District Case No. A-18-783054-C  |

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Non-competition agreements are disfavored restraints of trade, and they require definite and narrowly-tailored terms in order to be enforceable. Sufficiently definite non-competition agreements must contain express and reasonable limitations as to time and geographic scope. These criteria (and their reasonableness) are clear and easily ascertainable; the extent of the restriction may be reckoned by simple reference to a map and a calendar.

The non-competition agreement at issue here lacks any geographic limitation, and instead casts its scope in terms of medical "Facilities[<sup>4</sup>]" at which Fielden Hansen provides services (or may provide services) and at which Dr. Tang has

11

12

8

1

2

3

<sup>4</sup> "Facilities" is a broadly-defined term under the contract at issue, and purportedly includes:

[1] All facilities with which [USAP] has a contract to supply licensed

physicians, CRNAs, AAs and other authorized health care providers who provide Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any

time during the Term [of the contract] or during the preceding twelve (12) months; [2] facilities at which any such [healthcare] providers

have provided Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any time during the Term or during the preceding twelve (12) months, and

(3) <u>facilities with which [USAP] has had active negotiations to supply</u> any such providers who provide Anesthesiology and Pain Management

Services during the Term or during the preceding twelve (12)

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

months[.]

20

21

[1 App. 120, emphases added.] The definition of "Facilities" therefore includes, among other things, hospitals with whom USAP had "actively negotiated" with at any point in the year *prior to* a physician's employment with the practice, even if those negotiations never ripened into a relationship.

 $\gamma \gamma$ 

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

3

worked. Non-competition agreements cast in these terms present indefinite and moving targets in which departing physicians cannot confidently know where they can or cannot work, and they require courts to conduct fact-specific inquiries in every disputed case. Moreover, there is no reasonable nexus between: (1) the hospitals at which an anesthesiology group provides services; and (2) which surgeons who conduct procedures at those hospitals have a relationship with that anesthesiology group. In Nevada, surgeons may generally conduct procedures at any hospital at which they have privileges, and those surgeons may retain the services of any anesthesiologist that they choose.<sup>5</sup> The mere fact that USAP has provided anesthesiology services for a surgeon at Sunrise Hospital (for example) should not bar a departing anesthesiologist from providing services to any surgeon at that same facility, regardless of whether or not those surgeons have ever worked with USAP. Nevertheless, this is exactly how the non-competition agreement at issue here is constructed.

Because the overbroad non-competition agreement at issue here predated the enactment of NRS 613.195(5), it cannot be "blue-penciled" under that statute. Prior to the enactment of NRS 613.195(5), Nevada law held that an overbroad non-competition agreement was wholly unenforceable, and that an employee purportedly subject to such an agreement would not be bound. NRS 613.195(5)

20

22

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Provided, of course, that the surgeon's chosen anesthesiologist also has privileges at the same hospital.

allows a court to rescue an otherwise unenforceable non-competition agreement by modifying its terms in order to render it enforceable, thereby modifying the terms of the deal between an employer and employee. The sole purpose of NRS 613.195(5) is to change the *substance* of a private contract under certain circumstances. Statutes affecting substantive rights operate retroactively only where the legislature clearly manifests an intent that they do so, and neither the text of NRS 613.195(5) nor the legislative history underlying its enactment show any such intent. NRS 613.195(5) therefore cannot be retroactively applied to rescue the non-compete at issue, and it is wholly unenforceable.

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE NON-COMPETE AT ISSUE HERE IS OVERBROAD AND UNENFORCEABLE

The non-compete at issue here is overbroad and not reasonably related to any legitimate business purpose; therefore, it is wholly unenforceable. *See Golden Rd. Motor Inn, Inc. v. Islam*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 49, 376 P.3d 151, 156 (2016) (holding that a non-compete that extends beyond what is necessary to protect the employer's interest renders the provision wholly unenforceable). The plain language of the provision states that if Dr. Tang had ever taken a case at a hospital during his time at USAP, he is barred from accepting *any* cases from *any* provider at that *entire facility* for a two-year period, even for providers with whom USAP had never worked, and even if USAP later ceases providing any services at that facility. The

วา

non-compete's focus on entire *facilities* rather than individual *physicians* is nonsensical because, generally speaking, physicians (and not hospitals) hire anesthesiologists. The non-compete is therefore overbroad and invalid.

# A. Non-Competition Agreements are Strictly Construed

An agreement by an employee not to compete is generally considered an unenforceable restraint of trade unless it is reasonable in scope and breadth. *Hotel Riviera, Inc. v. Torres*, 97 Nev. 399, 404, 632 P.2d 1155, 1158-59 (1981). A restraint of trade is unreasonable if it is greater than is required for the protection of the person for whose benefit the restraint is imposed or imposes undue hardship upon the person restricted. *Ellis v. McDaniel*, 95 Nev. 455, 458, 596 P.2d 222, 224 (1979). Nevada courts therefore "strictly construe the language of covenants not to compete; and in the case of an ambiguity, that language is construed against the drafter." *Sheehan & Sheehan v. Nelson Malley and Co.*, 121 Nev. 481, 489, 117 P.3d 219, 225 (2005).

Post-employment anti-competitive covenants are scrutinized with greater care than are similar covenants incident to the sale of a business. *Hotel Riviera*, 97 Nev. at 404, 632 P.2d at 1158–59. Thus, noncompetition agreements are strictly limited to the protection of a legitimate business interest of the employer. *Duneland Emergency Physician Med. Corp. v. Brunk*, 723 N.E. 2d 963 (Ind. Ct. App. 2000). In order for a plaintiff to enjoy a probability of success on the merits of its case to enforce a non-compete clause, the Court must consider whether the provisions of

the non-compete would likely be found reasonable at trial. *Hanson v. Edwards*, 83 Nev. 189, 191-92, 426 P.2d 792, 793 (1967).

For example, in evaluating the reasonableness of the non-compete provision at issue in *Golden Road*, the Court looked to its prior decisions in *Jones v. Deeter*, 913 P.2d 1272 (Nev. 1996), wherein it held that a five-year time restriction was unreasonable, and *Camco, Inc. v. Baker*, 113 Nev. 512 (1997), which concluded that a geographic restriction of 50 miles from any area which was the "target of a corporate plan for expansion" was unreasonable. *Id.* The Court reasoned that if such restrictions were unreasonable in those cases, then prohibiting an employee "from employment, affiliation, or service with any gaming business" was also unreasonable. *Id.* Additionally, the Court found that prohibiting an employee from working in any capacity, even as a custodian, did not further any protectable any legitimate business interests on the part of the employer. *Id.* Accordingly, the Court determined that the provision was overbroad and unreasonable. *Id.* 

# B. USAP's Non-Competition Agreement is Overbroad as Drafted

The plain language of the non-compete at issue here purports to prevent Dr. Tang from "provid[ing] Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services at any of the Facilities at which [he] has provided any Anesthesiology and Pain Management Services . . . within the twenty-four month period prior to the date of . . . termination" of the Agreement. (1 App. 124.) On its face, this provision prevents Dr. Tang from accepting cases at any "Facility" at which he had even taken a case

during his time at USAP, even if USAP were to later cease providing anesthesiology services at those "Facilities."

But Appellant's focus on *hospitals* (or "facilities") misses the point because, generally speaking, hospitals do not hire anesthesiologists—*physicians* do. A physician conducting a surgical procedure at a hospital at which she has privileges may, in the overwhelming majority of cases, hire any anesthesiologist she chooses. The only relevant relationship between the anesthesiologist and the hospital is whether the anesthesiologist carries privileges at that facility. Nevertheless, the plain language of the non-compete at issue purports to lock an anesthesiologist out of an entire hospital the moment that he takes a single case for a single provider at that hospital. This is not a reasonable means for USAP to protect its business. *See Golden Rd.*, 376 P.3d at 156.

The Agreement also requires Dr. Tang to terminate his staff privileges at every single "Facility" under the Agreement's broad definition of that term, regardless of whether Dr. Tang had ever provided services there as USAP employees, and with no indication of when (if ever) they may apply to reinstate their privileges at those Facilities. This means that, under the plain language of the Agreement, Dr. Tang must terminate his privileges at:

(1) every facility at which USAP/Fielden Hanson has a contract to supply healthcare providers;

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

- (2) every facility at which USAP/Fielden Hanson had a contract to supply healthcare providers at any time during the 12 months preceding the Agreement, even if it does no longer, and even if it did not have such a contract at any time during the term of the Agreement;
- which USAP/Fielden Hanson (3) every facility had provided at anesthesiology or pain management services at any time during the term of the Agreement;
- (4) every facility which USAP/Fielden Hanson provided had at anesthesiology or pain management services during the twelve months preceding the Agreement, even if it never did during the term of the Agreement;
- (5) every facility with which USAP/Fielden Hanson had "active negotiations to supply any [healthcare] providers" during the Term of the Agreement, even if those negotiations never ripened into a contract; and
- (6) every facility with which USAP/Fielden Hanson had "active negotiations" during the twelve months preceding the Agreement, even if those negotiations never ripened into a contract, and even if those negotiations had unsuccessfully concluded prior to the term of the Agreement.

This stripping of staff privileges has no set duration in the Agreement; it is therefore apparently indefinite. Dr. Tang must also waive his due process rights in connection with their staff privileges at any USAP "Facility," again, apparently

indefinitely. This sweeps far more broadly than is necessary to protect any legitimate business purpose of USAP/Fielden Hanson.

# II. NRS 613.195(5) CANNOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY

Applying NRS 613.195(5) retroactively would substantively modify the terms of the parties' non-compete, which was entered into prior to its enactment; therefore, doing so would violate Dr. Tang's due process rights. Both USAP and Dr. Tang were presumed to know the state of the law when they executed the non-competition agreement at issue in this case. At the time of execution, Nevada's law of public policy required non-competes to be wholly reasonable, and held that reformation (or "blue penciling") was not available to rescue non-competes that were unreasonable. *See Golden Rd.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 49, 376 P.3d 151, 158 (2016). The holding in *Golden Rd.* was itself based upon *decades* of Nevada precedent, which struck unreasonable non-competes in their entirety and prohibited judicial contract reformation as a matter of public policy.<sup>6</sup> Parties may not contract

<sup>6</sup> See, e.g., Reno Club, Inc. v. Young Inv. Co., 64 Nev. 312, 323, 182 P.2d 1011,

1016 (1947) (holding that blue penciling "would be virtually creating a new contract for the parties, which ... under well-settled rules of construction, the court has no

power to do"); *Hansen v. Edwards*, 83 Nev. 189, 191, 426 P.2d 792, 793 (1967) ("An agreement on the part of an employee not to compete with his employer after termination of the employment is in restraint of trade and will not be enforced in accordance with its terms unless the same are reasonable."). *Jones v. Deeter*, 112 Nev. 291, 296, 913 P.2d 1272, 1275 (1996) (holding that an unreasonable provision renders the noncompete agreement wholly unenforceable); *Kaldi v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 117 Nev. 273, 278, 21 P.3d 16, 20 (2001) ("It has long been the policy in Nevada that absent some countervailing reason, contracts will be construed from the written language and enforced as written." (internal quotation omitted)); *All Star Bonding v. State*, 119 Nev. 47, 51, 62 P.3d 1124, 1126 (2003) ("We are not free to

around the law of public policy. Thus, at the time of execution, both parties reasonably expected that the non-compete would be enforced only if it were wholly reasonable, and that blue penciling would not be available, notwithstanding any contractual provision stating otherwise. Applying AB 276 retroactively upends the parties' reasonable expectations at the time of execution by effectively inserting severability and blue-lining clauses into the contract, which the parties knew was not legally permissible when they agreed to the terms at issue.

### C. Golden Road, its Antecedents Under Nevada Law, and AB 276

Golden Rd. was not some radical departure from Nevada law that was swiftly "corrected" by the legislature. Rather, it was a straightforward application of longestablished legal principles that produced a result of which the newly-elected 2017 legislature did not approve. The legislature therefore statutorily changed Nevada's law of contracts to produce results more to its liking, as it is empowered to do. However, it was the *legislature* that departed from long-established Nevada law,

modify or vary the terms of an unambiguous agreement." All of these cases were cited with approval in *Golden Rd. See* 376 P.3d at 156–158.

<sup>7</sup> USAP's form contract included a severability clause and blue-lining clause at the time of execution, which is not surprising in a form adhesion contract used in a multiple states, at least some of which may have allowed reformation and blue penciling. However, at the time of execution, neither USAP nor Dr. Tang could have reasonably expected that provisions directly contrary to decades of Nevada law would have been enforced in a Nevada court. Indeed, *if USAP had had intended to impose terms on Dr. Tang against then-existing public policy, the entire contract would be void.* Columbia/HCA Info. Services, Inc., 117 Nev. 468, 480, 25 P.3d 215, 224 (2001) ("[T]his court will not enforce contracts that violate public policy.").

and there is no indication either in the legislative history or the text of the enactment itself that it intended to do so retrospectively. The Court may therefore not apply AB 276 retroactively. *See Nevada Power Co. v. Metropolitan Dev. Co.*, 104 Nev. 684, 686, 765 P.2d 1162, 1163 (1988) (reversing and remanding district court's finding of retroactivity because "[t]he legislative history of [the statute] does not support the conclusion that [it] was meant to be applied retroactively"); *see also* Miller *v. Burk*, 124 Nev. 579, 589, 188 P.3d 1112, 1119 (2008) (holding enactments must have only "prospective application, unless the [enactment] specifically provides otherwise").

# 1. Golden Rd. was Supported by Decades of Nevada Public Policy Precedent

On July 21, 2016, this Court held in *Golden Rd*. that Nevada's established law of public policy precluded blue penciling an unreasonable non-compete. 376 P.3d at 158. The case involved a non-compete which prohibited the defendant (a casino host) from "employment, affiliation, or service" with any gaming operation within 150 miles of her former employer for a period of one year. *Id.* at 153. The district court held that the non-compete was overbroad because it precluded the defendant from working for any casino in *any* capacity for its term, and the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed that ruling. *Id*.

The plaintiff employer urged the Court to "blue pencil" the agreement by narrowing its scope to render it enforceable. *See id.* at 156. This Court declined to do so, noting that, under long-standing Nevada precedent, "an unreasonable

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